METABOLIC DISTURBANCES AND SYNOVIAL JOINT RESPONSES IN OSTEOARTHRITIS

Charles W. Denko and Charles J. Malemud

Case Western Reserve University School of Medicine, Cleveland, Ohio

TABLE OF CONTENTS

- 1. Abstract
- 2. Introduction
- 3. Clinical findings resulting in the diagnosis of OA
- 4. Laboratory findings in OA and in inflammatory diseases
 - 4.1. Growth hormone and insulin-like growth factor-1
- 5. Cartilage matrix synthesis and degradation in OA
 - 5.1. Cytokine regulation
 - 5.2. Compensatory matrix biosynthesis
- 6. Relationship of cartilage changes in OA to metabolic disturbances
- 7. Conclusions
- 8. Acknowledgments
- 9. References

1. ABSTRACT

Previously held views that the pathogenesis of idiopathic osteoarthritis (OA) originated in the synovial joint and was not influenced by systemic metabolic disturbances in the patient is inconsistent with recent data demonstrate skewing of the growth hormone/insulin-like growth factor-1 axis in the symptomatic OA patient. In light of this novel information, the role of growth hormone and insulin-like growth factor-1 in the pathogenesis and progression of OA requires further definition. In male patients with OA, the red blood cell sequesters more growth hormone than an aged-matched control group. Thus, this growth hormone "depot" may provide a mechanism for removal of "toxic" levels of growth hormone from the circulation. Storage of "excess" growth hormone in red cells may reduce the inflammatory or otherwise undesirable "toxic" actions of GH. In some patients, serum growth hormones levels may exceed threetimes the average value considered normal. These "episodic" variations in growth hormone levels may play a significant role in the elevated levels of serum growth hormone seen in the OA patient. The connection between elevated growth hormone and decreased insulin-like growth factor-1 levels and the defined cartilage anabolic and catabolic pathways defined in in vitro assays of articular cartilage derived from the OA patients remain to be more precisely defined. However, the dampened insulin-like growth factor-1 response in OA coupled with elevated cartilage extracellular matrix degradation (mediated by metalloproteinases) and depressed compensatory biosynthesis (induced and perpetuated by the presence of cytokines such as interleukin-1 and tumor necrosis factoralpha) may, in fact, act synergistically to suppress normal cartilage repair mechanisms thus resulting in progressive destructive lesions of the cartilage and bone.

2. INTRODUCTION

Our hypothesis, that the most common rheumatic disorder, idiopathic osteoarthritis (OA) contains features

that could classify it as a metabolic disturbance requires that deviations within the individual patient with OA be explored. Since the definition of "normal" may not be agreed upon universally in characterizing the patient without the diagnosis of OA, so it is with the view of what constitutes "abnormal" in the patient with OA. In this respect, we will use a definition of OA formulated on the basis of the criteria established by the American College of Rheumatology (ACR) covering OA of the hip and knee (1). Involvement of the spine is based on similar criteria. Since OA is a generalized disorder, each specific joint involved is part of the whole constellation of joint abnormalities with minor modifications characteristic of each joint. These minor modifications are probably a result of the interaction of systemic and local factors with individual synovial joint components. The common complaint of pain in the afflicted joint will depend on the sensitivity and perspicacity of each patient. In addition to pain in specific joints, patients must also demonstrate evidence of morphological cartilage and bone changes by physical or radiographic examination.

3. CLINICAL FINDINGS RESULTING IN THE DIAGNOSIS OF OA

There are essentially no distinguishing differences in the physiochemical reactions of chondrocytes and in the properties of articular cartilage in various rheumatic disorders for these criteria to be useful in the classification of these patients. Therefore, it is helpful to turn to the clinical features of the disease to aid in its classification. Is there sufficient sameness in OA when individual cases of OA are compared to other rheumatic disorders or connective tissue diseases to justify the viewpoint that OA is fundamentally a metabolic disorder? The ACR criteria for the diagnosis of OA requires that a combination of clinical features be present (1). Specific criteria for hip and knee OA include a combination of clinical history, physical examination, laboratory and

radiographic studies. In all forms of OA, arthritis must be defined by the presence of joint pain, aching or stiffness. In hip and knee OA, bony tenderness and enlargement must be present with the additional finding of crepitus contributing to the diagnosis of OA in the knee. X-rays of the hip must show evidence of joint space narrowing and/or the presence of osteophytes.

4. LABORATORY FINDINGS IN OA AND IN INFLAMMATORY DISEASES

Laboratory tests should reveal sedimentation rates, no rheumatoid factor and normal synovial fluid viscosity and lubrication capacity. In studies from this laboratory, in patients 45 years or older, changes in acute phase reactant levels produced in inflammatory disorders such as rheumatoid arthritis, gout, pseudogout, and systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) were similar to those measured in patients with clinically diagnosed OA (2). Thus, the inflammatory component in these common rheumatic disorders is similar and is often medically managed by the use of corticosteroids, and/or non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs). In specific cases such as in the use of colchicine for the treatment of gout, agents with more specific targets of action are more medically effective than agents with broad basis of action such as NSAIDs. We and others have postulated that changes in acute phase reactants are protective (3-7). Transferrin and albumin are carrier proteins whose serum levels are reduced in patients with OA thereby effectively reducing the overall impact of the inflammatory component on the disease process. Other acute phase proteins whose antiinflammatory activities depend on increasing serum levels include ceruloplasmin which also serves as a carrier protein for copper (4), acid glycoprotein (5), and alpha₁-antitrypsin (6). Beta-endorphin, a 31-amino acid neuro-transmitter protein is the biochemical mechanism that integrates pain and euphoria (7). Beta-endorphin results from the conversion of a larger glycoprotein, proopiomelanocortin which is also the precursor for other hormones such as adrenocorticotropin. Endorphins were shown to stimulate cartilage metabolism in vitro (8). Serum endorphin levels in patients with OA were low compared to normal individuals as was also the case with other inflammatory disorders such as gout, pseudogout, rheumatoid arthritis, SLE, psoriatic arthritis and ankylosing spondylitis (9).

These patterns of systemic biochemical changes are similar to those occurring with acute phase reactants. The acute phase reactants which are synthesized in the liver are rapidly induced in the presence of inflammatory stimuli and appear to parallel states of chronic inflammation (10).

4.1. Growth hormone and insulin-like growth factor-1

The role of growth factors and other potential mediators of growth factor activity in the pathogenesis and progression of OA has been considered (11) but the exact mechanism of action remains to be established. We and others previously demonstrated that elevated serum growth hormone (GH) levels were associated with the symptoms of joint pain in OA (12-14), in patients with the DISH syndrome (15), and in patients with acromegalic arthropathy (13). Hypertrophic osteoarthropathy responded

clinically only to drugs which inhibited GH (14). Thus, if one includes in the criteria for OA, biochemical markers of disease, in addition to x-ray changes, a more complete definition of the OA process emerges. Previously, we showed that symptomatic OA patients had elevated serum GH levels and reduced serum insulin-like growth factor-I (IGF-1) levels, whereas patients without clinical symptoms showed normal serum levels of GH despite the presence of radiographic changes consistent with OA (16). Thus, serum GH, IGF-1 and insulin levels appeared to return to normal serum values when patients with OA became asymptomatic suggesting a role for GH and these other components of the GH pathway in OA disease progression. These hormones would be expected to play an especially prominent role in the inflammatory component of the disease which contributes significantly to the symptoms of the disease.

In homeostasis, GH and IGF-1 exist in a self-regulatory reciprocal relationship. GH stimulates liver IGF-1 synthesis, and in turn, IGF-1 stimulates various pathways of cartilage metabolism including proteoglycan biosynthesis (17). However, in OA this mechanism fails to function normally. Hochberg et al. (18) reviewed the initiation and perpetuation of the GH pathway beginning with the formation of a hormone-receptor complex resulting in "episodic" secretion of GH. The cell membrane then becomes refractory. GH binding to its receptor decreases until recycling of GH receptors results in GH receptor re-utilization. This cycle harmonizes with the secretory pattern of GH from the pituitary gland. The "episodic" nature of GH release or secretion is necessary to permit target organs to rest between episodes of GH release or secretion to inhibit GH shutdown or GH receptor refractoriness. Since GH is a poly-functional hormone, chronic exposure to excessive levels of GH may result in inflammation, overgrowth of specific tissues or modification of hormonal response to other agents. Acute exposure to excessive doses of GH may also be deleterious by suppressing the release or synthesis of IGF-1 by the liver. A key point is the understanding of how individuals control the excess serum GH levels since evidently as much GH is degraded as is synthesized to maintain homeostasis in the normal person.

In order to better understand the relationship between GH and OA, a mechanism was sought which could explain how the individual might be protected from large amounts of "toxic" GH. We hypothesized that excess GH might be removed from the extracellular serum compartment to an intracellular depot. The erythrocyte might serve such a function. To study this possibility, red blood cell (RBC) hemolysates were assayed for GH in patients with OA and also in suitable control individuals (table 1).

Sandulyak (19) had previously demonstrated that red cells could serve as depots for hormones other than GH, e.g. insulin. GH was found in RBC hemolysates using the method of Matuliavichius *et al.* (20) (table 1). However, not all persons studied (control or OA patients), had GH levels in RBC hemolysates that were in the detectable range (20).

Table 1.Concurrent Intra-Erythrocyte GH (GH-RBC) and Plasma GH (GH-P) Levels in Normal Subjects (N) and Osteoarthritic (OA) Male Patients

N/OA	Number	Age (yrs) ^a	GH-RBC (ng ml ⁻¹) ^a	GH-P (ng ml ⁻¹) ^a
N	8	63 ± 8	1.7 ± 0.5	0.8 ± 0.3
OA	5	65 ± 7	3.8 ± 1.5	1.3 ± 0.3
		$P > 0.05^3$	P < 0.003	P < 0.007
N	13	52 ± 15	†	0.8 ± 0.1
OA	4	56 ± 8	†	1.1 ± 0.2
		P > 0.05		P < 0.001

^a mean \pm S.D., [†]GH levels below 0.4 ng ml^{-1, 3}P-values were calculated by Student's T-test

Table 2. Concurrent Intra-Erythrocyte GH (GH-RBC) and Plasma GH (GH-P) Levels in Normal Subjects (N) and Osteoarthritic (OA) Female Patients

N/OA	Number	Age (yrs) ^a	GH-RBC (ng ml ⁻¹) ^a	GH-P (ng ml ⁻¹) ^a
N	17	35 ± 12	1.8 ± 0.6	1.0 ± 0.5
OA	13	65 ± 10	2.1 ± 1.0	1.5 ± 0.7
		$P < 0.0001^3$	P > 0.05	P < 0.0004
N	12	43 ± 20	†	1.2 ± 0.4
OA	5	68 ± 6	†	1.4 ± 0.4
		P < 0.02		P > 0.05

^a mean ± S.D., [†]GH levels below 0.4 ng ml^{-1, 3} P-values were calculated by Student's T-test

Thus, in these cases, patients were subdivided based on GH levels in the RBC. In males matched for age, where RBC GH levels could be detected, RBC GH levels from patients with OA were greater than in the control group (table 1). In another male subset group matched for age where RBC GH levels were below the detection levels (i.e., 0.4 ng ml⁻¹), plasma GH levels were higher in the OA group than were in the control group (table 1). Among female subjects tested in this series, the OA patients were older than their non-OA counterparts (table 2).

However, since serum GH levels were not age-dependent (see Tables 3 and 4, below), a comparison of concurrent intra-erythrocyte GH and plasma GH levels was also assessed (table 2). The plasma GH levels of OA patients was greater than that of the normal group, but the RBC GH levels, while higher in the OA group than in the normal group, did not reach statistical significance (table 2).

Curiously, among the females tested, where the RBC GH levels were below the limits of detection, the plasma GH level among the two groups was not different. Taken together, these results suggest that in some OA patients, RBC GH levels as well as plasma GH levels exceed the GH levels in the normal control group.

Taken together, we speculate that storage of "excess" GH in RBC may reduce the inflammatory or otherwise "toxic" effects of GH. In addition, RBCs containing high levels of GH circulate to the liver where GH is metabolized. In turn, RBCs also transport GH to tissues where GH exerts its characteristic metabolic actions.

To study the interactive regulatory mechanisms governing the GH/IGF-1 axis we turned to an evaluation of concurrent levels of GH and IGF-1 in normal controls and in patients with OA. Because of the disparity in the number of subjects in each patient subgroup, the results of this analysis

are expressed as the average serum GH and IGF-1 levels with the range of the values obtained shown in parenthesis (table 3 and table 4). A cohort of normal individuals served not only as a control population for the patients with OA, but were also useful in that they helped establish baseline standards for the occurrence of spontaneous hypersecretory episodic levels of GH and IGF-1. The secretion of GH and IGF-1 differed among men and women. GH hypersecretors are more common among adult females, but the incidence of GH hypersecretion diminished with age in adult women. Normal GH levels, however, did not change with age either in men or women, while IGF-1 levels did diminish with age possibly as a result of changes that affect the liver. For purposes of this study, GH hypersecretion was set as three-times normal values. In patients with OA, the incidence of hypersecretory episodes decreased from 10% to 4% in men and from 18% to 3% in women. IGF-1 levels, on the other hand, were always lower in patients with OA and confirms previously published data (20). An additional confounding variable was also addressed. To explain the findings that x-ray changes compatible with OA occur in normal individuals, we considered that normal eating induces changes in GH, IGF-1 and insulin that are subtle and perceived as changes in normal stress and dietary changes. Gradually, however, x-ray changes in OA are found without any perceived clinical symptoms at all. In this respect, OA may be considered a metabolic disorder similar to diabetes mellitus with the exception that in OA, GH is the driving force instead of insulin.

5. CARTILAGE MATRIX SYNTHESIS AND DEGRADATION IN OA

How is cartilage injury related to potential systemic disturbances in the pathogenesis and perpetuation of the OA lesion? A principal tenet holds that initiation of cartilage damage results from a metabolic imbalance between chondrocyte anabolic and catabolic factors. Thus, metabolic disturbances may be expected to

Table 3. Serum GH and IGF-1 Levels in Normal (N) and Osteoarthritis (OA) Females

Subgroup	Number (%)	Age (yrs)	GH (ng ml ⁻¹)	IGF-1 (ng ml ⁻¹)
N				
Episodic	4 (27)	16	6.8 (3.0 - 11.0)	40.6 (28.2 - 53.3)
Non-episodic	11 (73)	17	0.8 (0.7 - 1.3)	36.5 (26.8 - 50.7)
N				
Episodic	23 (32)	28	5.8 (3.1 - 11.7)	26.8 (16.6 - 37.3)
Non-episodic	49 (68)	30	1.0 (0.4 - 1.9)	25.2 (13.4 - 72.5)
N				
Episodic	7 (18)	54	5.6 (2.9 - 14.7)	15.1 (9.4 - 25.4)
Non-Episodic	31 (82)	58	1.0 (0.4 - 2.2)	16.2 (8.1 - 28.8)
OA				
Episodic	1 (3)	66	4.1	14.3
Non-Episodic	30 (97)	67	1.5 (0.8 - 2.6)	12.1 (7.2 - 19.0)

Averages and range of values are shown for each group. In order for GH to be categorized as episodic, the serum GH level must be greater than three-times the average value of GH in normal persons.

Table 4. Serum GH and IGF-1 Levels in Normal (N) and Osteoarthritis (OA) Males

Subgroup	Number (%)	Age (yrs)	GH (ng ml ⁻¹)	IGF-1 (ng ml ⁻¹)
N				
Episodic	2 (18)	19	4.3 (3.9 - 4.8)	30.3 (21.3 - 39.3)
Non-episodic	9 (82)	17	0.7 (0.4 - 1.1)	55.2 (33.0 - 76.8)
N				
Episodic	5 (10)	28	6.6 (2.7 - 11.4)	29.6 (19.8 - 44.5)
Non-episodic	43 (90)	32	0.8 (0.4 - 1.4)	27.3 (14.0 - 39.9)
N				
Episodic	3 (10)	59	2.8 (2.4 - 3.5)	23.2 (8.9 - 24.8)
Non-episodic	27 (90)	60	0.8 (0.4 - 1.4)	20.1 (10.0 - 32.1)
OA				
Episodic	1 (4)	70	3.6	15.2
Non-episodic	22 (96)	63	1.2 (0.8 - 1.4)	15.2 (7.4 - 20.0)

Average and range of values are shown for each group. In order for GH to be categorized as episodic, the serum GH level must be greater than three-times the average value of GH in normal persons.

participate in the upregulation of enzyme pathways which accelerate the destruction of cartilage extracellular matrix components or induce chondrocyte apoptosis which compromises intrinsic attempts at cartilage repair. Recent evidence from animal models of OA (21) now implicate the synovium as playing an early role in the initiation (21,22) and perpetuation of cartilage damage (23). Thus, the avascular and aneural character of cartilage, previously implied to shield cartilage from the potential deleterious effects of systemic disturbances may have to be reconsidered as a result of synoviocyte activation characterized by transcriptional activation of cytokine (24) and metalloproteinase (MMP) genes (22). Cytokines such as interleukin-1 (IL-1) and tumour necrosis factor-alpha (TNF-alpha) have been implicated in the transcriptional upregulation of several of the MMPs including MMP-3 [stromelysin] (25-27), MMP-1 [collagenase-1] (28,29), MMP-9 (30), MMP-13 [collagenase-3] (31-33), MMP-8 [neutrophil collagenase] (34,35) and an enzyme activity, namely, aggrecanase (36,37). which degrades aggrecan in the intraglobular domain but at a site different from that of MMP-3 (38,39). In addition to aggrecan and the interstitial collagen isotypes, types I, II and III collagens these MMPs have broad substrate reactivity against other extracellular

matrix proteins of articular cartilage (40). The significance of the upregulation of the MMPs by II-1 was further established by the ability of IL-1 receptor antagonist to inhibit the transcription of MMPs and to ablate experimental arthritis (41,42). Elevated levels of TNF-alpha have also been found in the synovial fluid of early osteoarthritic canine lesions (26). Recent information has also emerged which implicates a membrane-bound class of MMPs (MT-MMPs) in cartilage degradation (43,44). The transcription of MT1-MMP was upregulated by IL-1 and TNF-alpha (43). MT1-MMP cleaved aggrecan at the "aggrecanase" and the other MMP sites (44). MT1-MMP was shown to activate MMP-2 (gelatinase) which has a wide range of substrate specificity in articular cartilage (43).

While the upregulation of MMPs by cytokines is well established, the control over the activity of MMPs and degradation of cartilage proteins appears to rest in the apparent imbalance between MMPs and their endogenous inhibitors, the tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases [TIMPs] (45-47). The mechanism by which TIMPs inhibit MMPs has now been established (48). The degradation of cartilage substrates in OA would be characterized as an

imbalance between the upregulatory events that govern MMPs and TIMPs (46) where MMP gene expression was markedly elevated at the expense of TIMPs.

Because many of the studies to determine substrate degradation patterns were conducted with recombinant MMPs and purified proteins in vitro, it has been crucial to determine which, if any, of these MMPs are active in the synovial joints of OA patients and what are the characteristics of the substrate degradation fragments found in the synovial fluid and cartilage. Monoclonal antibodies produced against specific neoepitopes of aggrecan and Type II collagen have been instrumental in assigning significance to the types and role of the various MMPs in question (49). Taken together, the evidence indicates that substrate-specific degradation in vitro results in protein fragments which can now be also identified in OA synovial fluid (50) making the case much stronger that these MMPs play a critical role in OA cartilage degeneration. Specific Type II collagen fragmentation and loss from articular cartilage also correlated strongly with the severity of OA cartilage lesions (51).

5.1. Cytokine regulation

The effectiveness of cytokines as up-regulators of MMP genes would be dependent not only on the cytokine levels (24, 26), but also on the relative sensitivity of refractoriness of the chondrocytes to the presence of these cytokines. This element of the cytokine pathway is likely to be controlled by increased receptors for IL-1 (IL-1r) in human chondrocytes and TNF-alpha in human synoviocytes derived from OA cartilage (25, 52-55). The synergistic action of IL-1 beta and TNF-alpha may also modulate TNF-alpha receptors (53).

5.2. Compensatory matrix biosynthesis

Compensatory biosynthesis of cartilage extracellular matrix components may also be compromised in OA. In short-term explant cultures of human OA cartilage obtained at joint replacement surgery, the amount of aggrecan synthesized was reduced when compared to the synthesis of the small leucine-rich proteoglycans, decorin and biglycan (56). Studies of the endogenous biglycan and decorin levels in OA cartilage, however, have provided conflicting results. Several studies which measured cartilage decorin content (57) or cartilage decorin and biglycan mRNA levels (58) sustained the biosynthesis results (56). Another study which employed monoclonal antibodies found no differences in cartilage decorin and biglycan content when OA and aged non-arthritic cartilage were compared (59). Potential repair of early cartilage lesions may be impaired by increased amounts of decorin owing to the reported anti-adhesive properties of decorin (60, 61).

6. RELATIONSHIP OF CARTILAGE CHANGES IN OA TO METABOLIC DISTURBANCES

Cartilage matrix synthesis is also compromised by the presence of IL-1 beta (62, 63). Furthermore, IL-1 beta was shown to alter IGF-1 gene expression (64) which may also modify proteoglycan gene expression. Abortive chondrocyte proliferation typical of early chondrocyte responses in OA could also result from chondrocyte unresponsiveness to IGF-1 (65,66) and the reduction of chondrocyte content from those systemic alterations in metabolic pathways (such as those that induce nitric oxide synthase), then in turn, accelerate apoptosis in articular cartilage (67, 68). The IGF-1 response may have evolved from IGF-1/IGF-1 receptor interactions which become abnormal in OA due to the presence of increased amounts of IGF-1 binding proteins (65, 66) which act as IGF-1 agonists in this process. The serum levels of the GH and IGF-1 in patients with OA are abnormal and the normal reciprocal relationship of the GH/IGF-1 axis is skewed. Thus, decreased levels of peripheral IGF-1 dampened by elevated GH levels, in addition to impaired IGF-1/IGF-1 receptor interactions would further compromise the cartilage repair process.

That restoration of normal IGF-1 levels could play an important role in maintaining cartilage homeostasis in early OA was suggested by studies in a canine model of OA induced by surgical transection of the anterior cruciate ligament (69). Six weeks after induction of OA, dogs treated with both IGF-1 and pentosan polysulfate (PPS) demonstrated a gross cartilage appearance that was almost normal. However, animals treated with either PPS or IGF-1 alone showed gross signs of OA pathology. Animals treated with IGF-1 and PPS, showed less total and active MMPs and total collagenase in OA cartilage. TIMP levels approaching normal were found in OA cartilage after these treatments. These data also suggested that, at least in this OA animal model, chondrocytes maintained their responsiveness to IGF-1. Thus, abortive repair of cartilage lesions seen in human OA pathological samples could result, at least in part, from impaired IGF-1 synthesis and function. Understanding mechanisms required to restore chondrocyte responsiveness to IGF-1 in human OA cartilage could provide an additional avenue for therapy designed to support cartilage compensatory matrix biosynthesis.

7. CONCLUSIONS

The results of longitudinal studies of serum GH and IGF-1 in patients with OA during periods of clinical activity and during remission strongly implicate systemic disturbances in the pathogenesis and progression of OA. The perpetuation of pathological processes involving chondrocyte and synovial tissue activation pathways appear to favor cartilage degradation which may be further exacerbated by normal mechanical forces acting on a compromised cartilage extracellular matrix. Thus, the pathogenesis and progression of OA should no longer be interpreted as simply a result of focal synovial joint pathology. In its place, it is proposed that OA be considered a metabolic disturbance with characteristic specific alterations in cartilage matrix biosynthesis and degradation accompanied by a robust remodeling of the synovial joint architecture including the formation of new bone (i.e. osteophytes). The evidence also strongly indicate that the serum acute phase reactant pattern in patients with symptomatic OA are quite similar to those patterns seen in patients with inflammatory arthritis.

Insights into the fundamental degradation and repair processes occurring in the OA joint will be gained when it is possible to decipher the complex interactions between GH, IGF-1 and other cytokines and growth factors in the peripheral circulation and how they interact with each other to cause destruction of cartilage and compromise repair of cartilage in the synovial joint.

8. ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Dr. Paul Jones (Department of Epidemiology and Biostatistics, Case Western Reserve University School of Medicine) for his assistance with the statistical analysis and the Divisions of Rheumatic Diseases at University Hospitals of Cleveland and the Wade Park Division of the Veterans Administration Medical Center for their support and cooperation in the collection of the clinical samples.

9. REFERENCES

- 1. Primer on the rheumatic diseases. Eleventh Edition. Ed: JH Klippel. Arthritis Foundation, Atlanta (1997)
- 2. C.W. Denko & P.Gabriel: Serum-proteins transferrin,
- ceruloplasmin, albumin, alpha-1 acid glycoprotein, alpha-1 antitrypsin in rheumatic disorders. J Rheumatol 6, 664-72,
- 3. C. W. Denko: Phlogistic properties of the serum proteins, albumin and transferrin. *Inflammation* 4, 165-8 (1980)
- 4. C. W. Denko: Protective role of ceruloplasmin in inflammation. Agents Action 9, 333-6 (1979)
- 5. C.W. Denko & K. Wanek: Antiinflammatory action of alpha-1-acid glycoprotein in urate crystal inflammation. Agents Action 15, 539-40 (1984)
- 6. E. Pitt. & D.A. Lewis: Anti-inflammatory properties of alpha-1-antitrypsin. Int J Tissue React 1, 21-32 (1979)
- 7. S.H. Snyder & R.B. Innis: Peptide transmitters. Annu Rev Biochem 48, 755-82 (1979)
- 8. CW Denko: Regeneration, repair and their control by pharmacological agents. In: A handbook of inflammation. The pharmacology of inflammation. Eds: Bonta IL, Bray MA, Parnham MJ, Elsevier, Amsterdam (1985)
- 9. C. W. Denko: Serum beta endorphin in rheumatic disorders. J Rheumatol 9, 827-33 (1982)
- 10. RD Shmerling & MH Liang: Laboratory evaluation of rheumatic diseases. In: Primer on the rheumatic diseases. Tenth Edition, Eds: Schumacher HR, Klippel JH, Koopman WJ, Arthritis Foundation, Atlanta (1993)
- 11. T.R. Johnson, B.K. Blossey, C.W. Denko & J. Ilan: Expression of insulin-like growth factor-I in cultured rate hepatocytes: Effects of insulin and growth hormone. Mol Endocrinol 3, 580-7 (1989)
- 12. C.W. Denko, B. Boja. & R.W. Moskowitz: Growth promoting peptides in osteoarthritis: Insulin, insulin-like growth factor-I, growth hormone. J Rheumatol 17, 1217-21 (1990)
- 13. S. Lacks.& R. P. Jacobs: Acromegalic arthropathy: A reversible rheumatic disease. J Rheumatol 13, 634-6 (1986) 14. M. Matucci-Cerinic: Response of hypertrophic osteoarthropathy to drugs inhibiting growth hormone. J Rheumatol 11, 865-6 (1984) [Letter]

- 15. C.W. Denko, B. Boja & R.W. Moskowitz: Growth promoting peptides in osteoarthritis and diffuse idiopathic skeletal hyperostosis - insulin, insulin-like growth factor, growth hormone. *J Rheumatol* 21, 1728-30 (1994)
- 16. C. W. Denko & B. Boja: Growth factors in asymptomatic osteoarthritis - insulin, insulin-like growth factor-I, growth hormone. Inflammopharmacology 2, 71-6 (1993)
- 17. TI Morales: The role of signaling factors in articular cartilage homeostasis and osteoarthritis. In: Osteoarthritic disorders. Eds: Kuettner KE, Goldberg VM, American Academy of Orthopaedic Surgeons, Rosemont, IL (1995)
- 18. Z. Hochberg, T. Bick, T. Amit, R. J. Barkey & M.B.Youdim: Regulation of growth hormone receptor turnover by growth hormone. Acta Paediatr Scand 367 (Suppl), 148-52 (1990)
- 19. L. I. Sandulyak: Erythrocytes as depot and transportsystem of hormones. Dopovidi Akad Nauk Ukrainskoi RSR, Series B, 61-63 (1976) [In Ukrainian]
- 20. V. Matuliavichius, E. I. Vareikis & L.V. Lashas: Insulin-like substance and insulin degrading complex of hemolysates of human erythrocytes. Biokhimiia 51, 278-84, (1986) [In Russian]
- 21. F. Mehraban, S.-Y. Kuo, H. Riera, C. Chang & R.W. Moskowitz: Prostromelysin and procollagenase genes are differentially up-regulated in chondrocytes from the knees of rabbits with experimental osteoarthritis. Arthritis Rheum 37, 1189-97 (1994)
- 22. F. Mehraban, M. W. Lark, F. Ahmed, F. Xu & R.W. Moskowitz: Increased secretion and activity of matrix metalloproteinase-3 in synovial tissue and chondrocytes from experimental osteoarthritis. Osteoarthritis Cartilage 6, 286-94 (1998)
- 23. F. Mehraban, M. H. Tindal, M. M. Proffitt & R.W. Moskowitz: Temporal pattern of cysteine endopeptidase (cathepsin B) expression in cartilage and synovium from rabbit knees with experimental osteoarthritis: gene expression in chondrocytes in response to interleukin-1 and matrix depletion. Ann Rheum Dis 56, 108-15 (1997)
- 24. W. P. Arend & J.-M. Daver: Cytokines and cytokine inhibitors or antagonists in rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Rheum 33, 305-15 (1990)
- 25. J. Martel-Pelletier, R. McCollum, J. A. DiBattista, M. P. Faure, J. Chin, S. Fournier, M. Sarfati & J.-P. Pelletier: The interleukin-1 receptor in normal and osteoarthritic human articular chondrocytes. Identification as the type 1 receptor and analysis of binding kinetics and biologic functions. Arthritis Rheum 35, 530-40 (1992)
- 26. G. Venn, J. J. Nietfield, A.J. Duits, F.M. Brennan, E. Arner, M. Covington, M. E. J. Billingham & T.E. Hardingham: Elevated synovial fluid levels of interleukin-6 and tumor necrosis factor associated with early experimental canine osteoarthritis. Arthritis Rheum 36, 819-27 (1993)
- 27. J. S. Mort, G.R. Dodge, P.J. Roughley, J. Liu, S.J. Finch & G. DiPasquale: Direct evidence for active metalloproteinases mediating matrix degradation in interleukin-1 stimulated human articular cartilage. Matrix 13, 95-102 (1993)
- 28. G. C. Wolfe, K. L. MacNaul, F. F. Buechel, J. McDonnell, L.A. Hoerrner M.W. Lark, V.L. Moore & N.I. Hutchinson: Differential in vivo expression of collagenase

- messenger RNA in synovium and cartilage. Arthritis Rheum 36, 1540-7 (1993)
- 29. P. Borden, D. Solymar, A. Swcharchuk, B. Lindman, P. Cannon & R.A. Heller: Cytokine control of interstitial collagenase and collagenase-3 gene expression in human chondrocytes. *J Biol Chem* 271, 23577-81 (1996)
- 30. K. Tsuchiya, W.J. Maloney, T.Vu, A.R. Hoffman, P. Huie, R. Sibley, D. J. Schurman, & R.L. Smith: Osteoarthritis: Differential expression of matrix metalloproteinase-9 mRNA in nonfibrillated and fibrillated cartilage. *J Orthop Res* 15, 94-100 (1997)
- 31. D. Wernicke, C. Seyfert, B. Hinzmann & E. Gromnica-Ihle: Cloning of collagenase-3 from the synovial membrane and its expression in rheumatoid arthritis and osteoarthritis. *J Rheumatol* 23, 590-5 (1996)
- 32. P. Reboul, J.-P. Pelletier, G. Tardif, J.-M. Cloutier, & J. Martel-Pelletier: The new collagenase, collagenase-3, is expressed and synthesized by human chondrocytes but not by synoviocytes. *J Clin Invest* 97, 2011-9 (1996)
- 33. P. G. Mitchell, H. A. Magna, L. M. Reeves, L.L. Lopresti-Morrow, S. A. Yocum, P. J. Rosner, K. F. Geoghegan & J.E. Hambor: Cloning, expression and type II collagenolytic activity of matrix metalloproteinase-13 from human osteoarthritic cartilage. *J Clin Invest* 97, 761-8 (1996)34. A. J. Fosang, K. Last, P. J. Neame, G. Murphy, V. Knäuper, H. Tschesche, C. Hughes, B. Caterson & T.E. Hardingham: Neutrophil collagenase (MMP-8) cleaves at the aggrecanase site E373-A-374 in the interglobular domain of cartilage aggrecan. *Biochem J* 304, 347-51 (1994)
- 35. E. C. Arner, C. P. Decicco, R. Cherney & M..D. Tortorella: Cleavage of native cartilage aggrecan by neutrophil collagenase (MMP-8) is distinct from endogenous cleavage by aggrecanase. *J Biol Chem* 272, 9294-9 (1997)
- 36. A. J. Fosang, K. Last & R.A. Maciewicz: Aggrecan is degraded by matrix metalloproteinases in human arthritis. Evidence that matrix metalloproteinases and aggrecanase activities can be independent. *J Clin Invest* 98, 2292-9 (1996) 37. M. W. Lark, E. K. Bayne, J. Flanagan, C. F. Harper, L. A. Hoerrner, N. I. Hutchinson, I. I. Singer, S. A. Donatelli, J. R. Weidner, H. R. Williams, R. A. Mumford & L. S. Lohmander: Aggrecan degradation in human cartilage. Evidence for both matrix metalloproteinase and aggrecanase activity in normal, osteoarthritic, and rheumatoid joints. *J Clin Invest* 100, 93-106 (1997)
- 38. A. J. Fosang, P. J. Neame, T. E. Hardingham, G. Murphy & J.A. Hamilton: Cleavage of cartilage proteoglycan between G1 and G2 domains by stromelysin. *J Biol Chem* 266, 15579-82 (1991)
- 39. J. D. Sandy, C. R. Flannery, P. J. Neame, & S.L. Lohmander: The structure of aggrecan fragments in human synovial fluid: Evidence for the involvement in osteoarthritis of a novel proteinase which cleaves the glu 373-ala 374 bond of the interglobular domain. *J Clin Invest* 89, 1512-6 (1992)
- 40. Z Werb: Proteinases and matrix degradation. In: Textbook of rheumatology. Eds: Kelly WN, Harris ED Jr, Ruddy S, Sledge CB, WB Saunders, Philadelphia (1989) 41. U. Müller-Ladner, C. R. Roberts, B. N. Franklin, R. E. Gay, P.D. Robbins, C. H. Evans & S. Gay: Human IL-1Ra gene transfer into human synovial fibroblasts is chondroprotective. *J Immunol* 158, 3492-8 (1997)

- 42. F. Mehraban & S. Kasturi: Gene transfer of type 1 interleukin-1 receptor extracellular domain complementary DNA into rabbit synovial cell line HIG-82 results in cellular blockade of interleukin-1 signal transduction. *Arthritis Rheum* 41, 515-24 (1998)
- 43. K. Imai, S. Ohta, T. Matsumoto, N. Fujimoto, H. Sato, M. Seiki, & Y. Okada: Expression of membrane-type 1 matrix metalloproteinase and activation of progelatinase A in human osteoarthritic cartilage. *Am J Pathol* 151, 245-56 (1997)
- 44. F. H. Büttner, C. E. Hughes, D. Margerie, A. Lichte, H. Tschesche, B. Caterson & E. Bartnik: Membrane type 1 matrix metalloproteinase (MT1-MMP) cleaves the recombinant aggrecan substrate rAgg1_{mut} at the 'aggrecanase' and the MMP sites. *Biochem J* 333, 159-65, (1998)
- 45. M. Zafarullah, J.-P. Pelletier, J.-M. Cloutier & J. Martel-Pelletier: Elevated metalloproteinase and tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase in human osteoarthritic synovia. *J Rheumatol* 20, 693-7 (1993)
- 46. J. Martel-Pelletier, R. McCollum, N. Fujimoto, K. Obata, J.-M. Cloutier, & J.-P. Pelletier: Excess of metalloproteinases over tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases may contribute to cartilage degradation in osteoarthritis and rheumatoid arthritis. *Lab Invest* 70, 807-15 (1994)
- 47. M. Zafarullah, S. Su, J. Martel-Pelletier, J. A. DiBattista, B.C. Costello, W. G. Stetler-Stevenson & J.-P. Pelletier: Tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase-2 (TIMP-2) mRNA is constitutively expressed in bovine, human, normal and osteoarthritic articular chondrocytes. *J Cellular Biochem* 60, 211-7 (1996)
- 48. F. -X. Gomis-Rüth, K. Maskos, M. Betz, A. Bergner, R. Huber, K. Suzuki, N. Yoshida, H. Nagase, K. Brew, G.P. Bourenkov, H. Bartunik, & W. Bode: Mechanism of inhibition of the human matrix metalloproteinase stromelysin-1 by TIMP-1. *Nature* 389, 77-81 (1997)
- 49. C. E. Hughes, B. Caterson, R. J. White, P. J. Roughley & J. Mort: Monoclonal antibodies recognizing protease generated neoepitopes from cartilage proteoglycan degradation. *J Biol Chem* 267, 16011-4 (1992)
- 50. C. E. Hughes, B.Caterson, A. J. Fosang, P. J. Roughley & J. S. Mort: Monoclonal antibodies that specifically recognize sequences generated by "aggrecanase" and matrix metalloproteinases cleavage of aggrecan: application to catabolism *in situ* and *in vitro*. *Biochem J* 305, 799-804 (1995) 51. A. P. Hollander, I. Pidoux, A. Reiner, C. Rorabeck, R. Bourne & A. R. Poole: Damage to type II collagen in aging
- Bourne & A. R. Poole: Damage to type II collagen in aging and osteoarthritis starts at the articular surface, originally around chondrocytes, and extends into the cartilage with progressive degeneration. *J Clin Invest* 96, 2859-69 (1995)
- 52. C. I. Westacott, R. M. Atkins, P. A. Dieppe & C. J. Elson: Tumor necrosis factor-alpha receptor expression on chondrocytes isolated from human articular cartilage. *J Rheumatol* 21, 1710-5 (1994)
- 53. J. Martel-Pelletier, F. Mineau, F. C. Jolicoeur & J.-P. Pelletier: Modulation of $TNFsR_{55}$ and $TNFsR_{75}$ by cytokines and growth factors in human osteoarthritic synovia. *J Rheumatol* 22, (Suppl 43), 115-9 (1995)
- 54. G. R. Webb, C. I. Westacott & C. J. Elson: Cartilage tumor necrosis factor receptors and focal loss of cartilage in osteoarthritis. *Osteoarthritis Cartilage* 5, 427-37 (1997)

- 55. G. R.. Webb, C. I. Westacott, C. I.& C. J. Elson: Osteoarthritic synovial fluid and synovium supernatants upregulate tumor necrosis factor receptors on human articular chondrocytes. *Osteoarthritis Cartilage* 6, 167-76 (1998)
- 56. C. J. Malemud, R. S. Papay, T. M. Hering, D. Holderbaum, V. M. Goldberg & T. M. Haqqi: Phenotypic modulation of newly synthesized proteoglycans in human cartilage and chondrocytes. *Osteoarthritis Cartilage* 3, 227-38 (1995)
- 57. R. L. Karvonen, F. Fernandez-Madrid, M. A. Lande, L. Hazlett, R. Barrett, T. An & C. J. Huebner: Proteoglycans from human osteoarthritic cartilage influence type II collagen *in vitro* fibrillogenesis. *Connect Tissue Res* 27, 235-50 (1992)
- 58. G. S. Dourado, M.E. Adams, J. R. Matyas & D. Huang: Expression of biglycan, decorin and fibromodulin in the hypertrophic phase of experimental osteoarthritis. *Osteoarthritis Cartilage*
- 4, 187-96 (1996)
- 59. A. R. Poole, L. C. Rosenberg, A. Reiner, M. Ionescu, E. Bogoch & P. J. Roughley: Contents and distribution of the proteoglycans decorin and biglycan in normal and osteoarthritic human articular cartilage. *J Orthop Res* 14, 681-9 (1996)
- 60. L Rosenberg: Structure and function of dermatan sulfate proteoglycans in articular cartilage. In: Articular cartilage and osteoarthritis. Eds: Kuettner K, Schleyerbach R, Peyron JG, Hascall VC, Raven Press, NY (1991)
- 61. C. J. Malemud & V. M. Goldberg: Synthesis of aggrecan core proteins by human cartilage and chondrocytes *in vitro*. *J Rheumatol* 22 (Suppl 43), 91-3 (1995)
- 62. J. -P. Pelletier, J. A. DiBattista, P. J. Roughley, R. McCollum & J. Martel-Pelletier: Cytokines and inflammation in cartilage degeneration. *Rheum Dis Clin North Amer* 19, 545-68 (1993)
- 63. M. Lotz, F. J. Blanco, J. von Kempis, J. Dudler, R.Maier, P. M. Villiger & Y Geng: Cytokine regulation of chondrocyte functions. *J Rheumatol* 22 (Suppl 43), 104-8 (1995)
- 64. T. Matsumoto, T. Tsukazaki, H. Enomoto, K. Iwasaki & S. Yamashita: Effects of interleukin-1 beta on insulinlike growth factor-1 autocrine/paracrine axis in cultured rat articular chondrocytes. *Ann Rheum Dis* 53, 128-33 (1994)
- 65. S. Doré, J.-P. Pelletier, J. A. DiBattista, G. Tardif, P. Brazeau & J. Martel-Pelletier: Human osteoarthritic chondrocytes possess an increased number of insulin-like growth factor-1 binding sites but are unresponsiveness to its stimulation: possible role of IGF-1 binding proteins. *Arthritis Rheum* 37, 253-63 (1994)
- 66. C. Tavera, T. Abriba, P. Reboul, S. Doré, P. Brazeau, J.-P. Pelletier & J. Martel-Pelletier: IGF and IGF-binding protein system in the synovial fluid of osteroarthritic and rheumatoid arthritic patients. *Osteoarthritis Cartilage* 4, 263-74 (1996)
- 67. F. J. Blanco, R. L. Ochs, H. Schwarz & M. Lotz: Chondrocyte apoptosis induced by nitric oxide. *Am J Pathol* 146, 75-85 (1995)
- 68. S. Hashimoto, K. Takahashi, D. Amiel, R. D. Coutts & M. Lotz: Chondrocyte apoptosis and nitric acid production

- during experimentally induced osteoarthritis. *Arthritis Rheum* 41, 1266-74 (1998)
- 69. R.A. Rogachefsky, D.D. Dean, D. S. Howell & R. D. Altman: Treatment of canine osteoarthritis with sodium pentosan sulfate and insulin-like growth factor-1. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* 732, 392-4 (1994)

Key Words: Cartilage, Chondrocyte, Growth Hormone, Insulin-Like Growth Factor, OA, Review

Send correspondence to: Dr Charles J. Malemud, Ph.D. Biomedical Research Bldg. Rm. 1025E, Case Western Reserve University School of Medicine, Cleveland, OH 44106-4946, Tel:216-368-1372 Fax: 216-368-1333, Email: cjm4@po.cwru.edu

Received 8/23/99 Accepted 8/31/99